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DAUGHTERS OF SERBIN, 1870-1905
HISTORY OF THE LUTHERAN' CHURGCHES
Lo A : _
FEDOR AND WARDA, TEXAS
In the ‘year 1854 some 500 Uiends! under the leadership
of the Rev. Kr, Johann Killan landed‘'in Galveston, Tezas,
with the hope of finding religious freedom in the MNew
Yorld, - For years these Viends had suffered politlecal
oppression which they had learned to endure. Vvhen how-
ever, in 1817 the Prusaian govermment sttempted to unite ;
the ILmtheran and Reformed churches, adding relil;ious
opcreasion (o their other burdens, deep resentment was - 1
felt by these Imtherans, Vith the exception of a hand- j
ful of courageous souls who nigrated to the United States
and Australia, the VVends did nothing to free themselves
from this condition, chiecfly because they lacked leader-
ship. By 1854 a sufficlently large number rallied around
Pastor Kilian of Veigersdorf, Prussia, to leave for Texas

where they hoped to enjoy church life free from goverment

line Vends, popularly so called, are alsc referred to as
Slavo~-Tmsations or Serbo-Lusations,: They are onc of the
many Slavice minorities e£till exlating in Jermany and trace
their history back beyond the Christian era. .Jor the most
part they lived in the present region of Erandenbursg, and
Silesia (Prussia), and ‘in Saxony, north and south along
the Spree River. Ofe. George C. Engerrand, The So=Called
Tends of Uernany. Pe 13 .
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rentrnlnt.2 ‘Arriving at Galvesion, Texas, they made their
way over the Houaton Prairie toward Lee County where the
ma jority settled ai a place later called Serhln.3

The history of St. Panl's congregation, as it was
later called, with 1ts.doctr1nal, racial, and lsnguage
disputes, has already been told. But the story of its
first daughters, the congregations which were organized
at rFedor and Warda, Texas, is equally important for it
ghows how the parent and branch congregations influenced
one another and how they in turn became one of the strong
nuelei around which the present Texas District of the
Evangeliecal Lutheran Synod'of lilssouri, Ohio, and Other

Statea wag formed.

Trinity Evangelical Lutheran Church
Fedor, Texasy, 1870 - 1906
During the late 60's of the past century a number of
Wends end Germans settled about twenty miles north of Ser-

bin along the Yegua crecks, psrticularly near the West

2ror a fuller account of this migration, their lecader
the Rev, lir., Johann Kilian, and the history of the mother
congregation at Serbin, Texas, cf. Arthur C. Repp, "St.
Paul's and St. Peter's Lutheran Churches, Serbin, Texas,

1855~1905" in Concordia Historical Institute Quarterly,XV
(July, 1942), pp. 96=463 XV (January, 1943), gp. T15-1253
XVI (April, 1943), ppe 18-283 XVI (July, 1943), pp. 49=573
YVII (April, 1944}, pp. 15-29;

5Serb1n, Texas, no longer has a.post offece address, It is
gix miles west of Giddings, the county seat. Giddings is
on the Austin-=Houston highway.




Yegua. A% first these asetitlers, eapeclally the Viends,
travelled the long distance %o Serbin for tﬁglr spiritual
needs, As the number increased it became evident that a
separate congregation with 1ts own pastor end school would
be more practicale Gradually the sentiment became atrong
enough to make an"attempt'tn obtain a minister who might
teach and preach to the settlements scattered in the vicine
ity. 'hen the Rev. lNr. Theodore Erohm, representing- the
officialz of the Synod, ceme to Texas to settle the dis-
pute in the Serbin congregation which was at white heat

at the time, an-invitetion was extended to him to visit the

& Consequently Brohm and Ernst Leubner, the

acttlements.
parochial school teacher at Serbin, made the trip on horse-
back, and on Harch 11, 1870, an organization meeting was
held deciding that a church ghould be built on the "Long
Prairie" tentatively %o be ecalled “Trinity“.s If Kilien
at Serbin had any misgivings regarding this move, he prob-
ably did not express them because of other matiers which
disturbed him within his own congregation a2t the time.
Later he did strenuously object to this organization

because it encroached intoc the Serbin purish.6 A few

“Repp, opeCite., XVI, number 1, p. 22 f.

5 ,
i“inutes of the congregational meetling of Trinity Church,
Yeferred Lo hereasfter as Irinity linutes.

“yimites of St. Paul's, Serbin, iFeb. 25, 1875.
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months a?ter the organization of Trinlity when the gquestion
of a preaident pastor was discuassed, Xilian again objecected
on the grounds thot the group was too small snd the mene
bers conld readily send their children ¢o his school in
Serbine’

In spite of Kilian'e objectiona, the littlc band of
Lutherans again met on January &, 1871, and rcesolved to
bulld a house which could be used as a church and school ab
firete Iater it might secrve an n parsonage when a scparate
church and school would be erecteds The building was to
measure sbout 28 x 20 feet and the cost for the material
was estimeted at eighty dollars. To complete the under-—
talking six school benches were to be bullt, In the =ame
neeting the official nome was adopted, "Holy Trinity Church
on the Weat Yegua, BHurleson County, Texns“.a

A% this time there was a graduate of the "practicel”
gscuinayy in Ste Louie, noned Jq A. Proft,; living with his
married sister in this territory.’ He wes well liked by
Kilien hecause he did not think young Proft too forwerd

-

and ready to reform everything, an experience wiih which

Toraft of letter by Kilian te walther, Yarch 7, 1871,
Sexbin aprchives.

Swpinity Minutes. This section was a part of Burleson
County but loter became @ part of the newly forumecd Tee
Countye .

9 ] - = ”
Pirlmenn, Giddings Deuisches Volksbleit, Oct. &, 1930,
Hereaf ter TFererred TO 88 CeleVe




Kilisn by this time had had eneugh.lo Proft had been
treined in Bautzen, Saxony, as a cebinet-meker and later
had decided %o become & missionary, For this purposc he
studied at llermannsburg, Iannover, going from there to St.
Louls wherc he had completecd his studies.t? Being of Vend
cxtraction he made & suitable candidate for the missione
stetion on the West Yegua. He wae asked to teach in the
school while Pastor Pallmer, who had been installed at St.
Peter®s in Serbin during December 1870,'wus asked to
preach occesionallye

A slte of aboﬁt fifty acres for the new church was
donated by a Nr. Bobackz who owneﬁ about a league of land
on the West Yegua, parcelling it out to the settlers as
they moved in, ' Proft found his early training as cabinet=
maker quite handy for he now drew the plens for the house
and gave much ageistance in building. Hefore this he had
designed the windows for St., Paul’s at Serbin and later
was called to assist St. Petert!s., His talenis were agsin
made use of when the first Varda pulpit and altar were
built.l?

Having given thisc station a try, it was resolved to
"enll Proft es resident pastor, whereupon he was installed

Ooraft of letter by Xilian to Walther, Harch 7, 1871.
Serbin archives.

113 pemann, G.D.Ve, Octe 5, 1939,
1254 riemann, GeDaVa, liove 13, 1930,




by Pastor Pallmer on September 3, 1871l. Kilian had heen
agked to nfrlciaﬁé but being 11l at the time, he inatructed
Palimer to inatell the candidate.l® At the first regular
mecting following the instmllation it was resolved %o have
VWendish services four times a year with IHoly Communion.
School was to begin on October 1, and to be tesught four
days a week, as was customary when the school was conducted
Ly the pastor. The tultion was assessed at eight dollars
per child. per ',!]ea:'.:!"t‘L

One of the chief difficulties of the time was the
matter of drinking water, The water had to be carried in
barrels three times a week and Proft was there two years
before the first cistern was built, As a result there was
muach fever in the neighborhood, Proft himself being fre-
quently sicke Iater his wife died at the birth of their
first chilq, a 8till-born, and Proft buried both in one
grave sbout three miles away, where he later bullt himself

a home.lb

1%npart of letter by Kilian to Buenger, Sept. 11, 1871,
Serbin asrchives.

1% 5mmtes, Sept. 24, 1871. This 1s the third official
meeting of the congregation., References are made at this
time to 2 number of so-called unofficial meetings for which
no minutes were kepte Thia practice was kept up till
Birlomann come. Hence much important information is lost,.

15E1rkmann, Texas Distrikisbote, vol. 8, number 2, llay 1923.

16uirkmann, GeDeVe, Octe 5, 1939,




_ It snon becameé evident that the small bnilldin: was
not large enough for both scﬁuol and parsonage., The par-
ochlal report for 1872 shows that there were-about thirty-
one children in the school, iIncluding two children of none

17 So in Jenunary 1872 1t was resolved io remodel

memhers,
the building, for which three hundred dollars had already
been subscribed.l® Incidently sn item in the huilding
expense account gives us an interesting sidelight of the
time. In addition to the stipulated amount for bullding
enlled for by the contract, the congregation also had to
supply the head builder with whiskey as the records still
show.1? It has been sald that this particular contractor
always required this special item before he could build
well,

Though Proft was good in doctrinal matters and was
quite piactlcnl in building operatlons, he lacked the
neccssary executive abillty. As & result he scon found
himself in the midst of many ‘troubles with his congre-

gation, often for good cause.Z0

17§ynodlea1 Report, Vesiern district, 1873,

18
liinutea.

191¢emized account found after the minutes of Jan. 7, 1872
mee tinge.

QDBirkmmnn, GeD.V., Oct. 22, 1924,
= CRITZ] App oot o
ORI T«
CoNCOHD 4 a;,,f:mi“; o
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Vhen he accepted. the call to this congregation no definite
calary was sety, due probably to the uncertain future of the
charge, After a few months Proft ssked that a definite
ealery be promized him, & demand which wes car%ainly not
unreasonable. One of the members proposed that 7 400.00 be
peid per yeer, However thlz was protested by a few and
nothing was dune.21 ot until another yesr was a salary
voted and that for § 400,00 plus feed for the horse., At
the =ame time 1t was stipulated that Vendish services were
to be held twelve times per year, fuur.times with HInly
Snﬂmunisn.zz During this time leaders of the faction in
Fayette County in the process of argenlzing & congregation
peay Varda planned to call Proft. The latter was willing
enough to leave under the circumstances but accepting a call
to this congregation would have involved him in =till some
othey trouble and so nothing came of 11:.23

An oppertunity to relicve the financlal pressure on
the %sreasury of the congregatiocn was afforded when Lt was
found out that money was available from publie schosl

funds, In a special meeting the matier was brought up and

for & two month period aid was accepted in order that the

" 2lyinutes, Jan. 7, 1872.

22, "
dinntes, Feb., 16, 1873.

23paft of letter by Kilian to Buenger, Oct. 27, 1872,
Serbin archives., Sec¢ infra, p. 108 and Repp, pop.cit. XVI
(July, 1943), pe 52 o




congregation could obitain the necessary books for the
school. In asking for this help 1t was under=ztood. that
thias aid was temporsary, sc tha: the independence of the
'schonl would not be 1ost.24 How long this waos done the
records do not show but toward the end of the next yeap
the mattér of state funda was again brought up and one of
the members was asked o go to the capital at Austin if
neccssary to obtain a grant.eE Thus we see that in this
congragation too, as well as Ste. Paul's and later in Verde,
the vexing matter of state aid for the school was brought
up.za

During 1873 Proft built a house for himself some three
miles to the east of the school near the burial place of
his wife and childe The pastor cluimed that he changed his
reaidence for reasons of health, but the congregation was
not satiefiede The people felt that he should remain necar
to his school and church and this together with other
@ifficulties soon brought about & serious situations In
addition to this there were others living in the viclnity

of Prof%'s new home who wante’ to break away and begin a

241inutes, Febe 25, 1872.
28:inutes, Septe 7, 1873

26y fuller discussion of thls subject will be found on
Pe 52 [T,




10

new congregations This trouble prompied an official vigite
ation in “anuary 1874 £l by Pastor M, Tirmenstein of liew
Orieans, Louisiana, and for a time there was an end to the
mattery though no doubt an undercurrent was still there.
Up to this time the congregation worskhipgped in the
gschool building.Originelly the intention was %o bulld a
church as soon as possible arfter the school was complcted,
but thie plen was posiponed. Since the school became too
emell, it was resolved in October 1874 to build a separate
churche Subscriptiona were tesken and the plans were fin-
ished and accepted by January 31, 1875, It wgs to be 40
x 25 feet and 16 feet high with a tower of about 48 feet,2o
“he contract wae let three weeks later for & 385.00.°¢ To
round out the property for the church site another acre of
land was bought for five dollare, 0
The sickness which had already bothered Proft secmed
to recurr very often now, Thus when Tirmenstein comeé again
in 1875 on an official visit, Proft was excused from teaching

schabl for the time beinscal

27 inutes, Jems.1l, 1874,

zeggnutes.

2% 1inutes, Febe 21, 1875,
$°Tinutes, liiarch £3, 1875.

3l inutes, May 4, 1875.




11

that was supposed to have been a temporary arrangement
proved more or less pefmanent and complaints were made
that the children were not receiving proper schooling.éz
Some members demanded the pastort!s resignation if he
could not take care of his duties, but when Proft offered
his resignation in the meeting of September 1875, others
at first objected. Finally however it wes accepted.sa
One of the reasons why a few probably objected to the
resignation of Proft was because of the language diffi-
culties between the Vends and the Germans., The Wendish
group, which was decidedly in the minority in this cone
gregation, felt that the next pastor in all probability
wonld not be able to handlé their language and they would
thue be at a disadvantagé. Y'hen the matter of calling a
new men was discussed the language question wns natur-
ally an important matter. ¥inally a compromise was
accepted on DNecember 2, 1875, after a number of mectings

had been called. It was decided that if a VYendish pastor

could be obtained the minority group would remain. . If a

32:.Einutes, July 11, 187G.

53iputes; The minutes of the meeting in which Proft
resigned are not on hand. He probably resigned
Sept. 19, 18'75.
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Uerman pastor was called they would be permitted tn leave
to organize a church of their awn.s4 .Probably because the
Yendish faction renrlized that only a German pastor was
available the minority did not walt till the new man was
celled. Instead they remained loysl to Proft and called
him as their pastor, organizing the Eben Ezer congre-
gation on the San Antonio prairie where Proft now lived.
The majority, conalsting chiefly of Cermans, sct
abont calling a pactor. The one persdn who did.nst Sym-
pathize with this group was Xilian, who ac senior pastor,
regarled himsell as the overseer. Proft was hila friend
and since Pastors Greif of St., Peter's and Stiemke of
Varda had ﬁean responsible for settling the matiter as it
now stoedy, Killen decided to make his objectlions known,
e therefore took it upon himoell to ﬁrite Pres, Walther,
head of the Synod, auggeanting that no pastor be given the
s tubborn" majority becsuse, as he felt, a teacher for
the =chool was sufficient. ie did not believe that Synod °
would want two young men in this rield, especially since
one man could take care of the entire group.Kilian felt
that it was a waste of precious man-power for five men

to be stationed in this vicinity-ss The whole situation

» s
Wi

4minutes.

S5ppagt of letter by Xillan, April 12, 1876. Serbin
archives.
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was mercly a dissension [ﬁichostasié] as far as he wvas
concerncd. ¥

In the meanvhile the ma jority group dediested ita church
on the Sunday of Invocavit 1876, being served by Pastors
Greif and Stiemke who aerved during the vacanecy. While the
congregation tkied in valin to get a pastor, a lir, Christoph
Vagner of Serbin took care of the school.sv For this work
he was to receive 75 cents per child per month.

After a vacancy of a4 year a candidate for the ministry
was procured in the person of Gotthilf Birkmann, who was to
have this parish for many years. Birkmann, & graduate of
Concordis Seminary, St. Louls, was an Illincis man, born at
Vaterloo, Accustomed to country life in a fairly progress-
ive area he was to find life in Texas some twenty years
behind his home state, Because of the extreme hest at the
time, he was advised not to come until carly fsll.ag- On
his arrival he wes taken to St. Peter's Church at Serbin
under the care of Pastor Geyer who ordained anéd Llnstalled

40
him. This solemn event took place on October 1, 1876,

38ppaft of letter by Kilian to Biltz, March 14, 1876,
Serbin archives,

avﬁirkmann, GeDeVey Nove 13, 1830,

8 iinutes,ifeb. 26, 1876.

3%heport of Rev. Geyer in meeting of July 30, 1878.
40 S

Birlmann, Giddings News, Oct. &, 1933, Synodical Report,
Western District, . .
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Lt wes a very busy entry into the ministry for on the very
day of his ordination Birkmann received the news that a
parichoner had died and was to be burled the following day.
Thua Birimann had the unique experience of preaching a
funeral sermon before he preached his initial aermnu.41

The young minister was expected to tench school almost
I'medintely. He had very little experience “or this task.
He had been temporarily cuployed as a studént-teacher in
the home congregation in I1linois bu%t hardly enough o make
hin feel competernt for the task. However as many another
man under similar conditions wvas forced to do, hc based his
methods on Lindemann?a ‘Schulpraxis®, at that time the
standard in Synod for the secular branches , and added to
thls his good common gense.?® The school had deteriorated
duping Proft'a time due to the continued irregularity. Only
fif teen pupils attended school toward the end of 1074, Im
all there were some {ourteen above the age of eight in the
parish who attended either no school at all or were getting
a emettering of education elsewhere.® cConditions improved
during the time when lir. Wagner taught. There were about

twenty=-five when Sirlkmann begane Given an opportunity, the

415 iplonann, Giddings News, Oct. 6, 1933,

éeinterview with Dre Ge Bilrimann, Glddings, Texas.

4% snutes, Jan. 5, 1675.




péople were anxious enough to send their children oz is eviw-
denced by the continued support even though the school was under
serious handicaps the next yeer due to frequent changes in
teachers, -
Lirkmenn found the condltions at Trinity typieal of the

rural echools in Texas, including those conducted by the state,

% seema that the original schooslhouse had been converted into
8 parsonage and the church was used as a school, The first few
pews zcrved as benches. A collapsible desk was eattached to the

backs of the pews for the benefit of the young learners. lotur-

ally the little ones found the sdult sized pews quile awkward,
Birlomann tells of one litile youngster who was so short that he
had to use the seat as his desk and kneel on the floor with his
baclk toward the teacher while he was doing his written work on

& nlate.44 When the "northers" ceme in fall and winter, this
building was very cold., With no ceilings nor ceiled walla the
small box stove could hardly throw sufficient heat end it was
"harbarisch kelt"™., As additional equipment a little three by
three footboard served for a blackboard, and only & few Booka
were on hend to go around. The people in general were very poor

and thus neither the children ner the school could be provided any

‘-
-

~ gy boy was later the Rev. E. F. Moerbe, now emeritus pastor

at Aleman, Texase.
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too well., ©Since the Vendish langnage had just sbout died
out by this time, especially with the minority group of
Vende leaving, German became the chief lengusge. All school
gubjects were toaught in Gsrman during the morning hours,

while English wes a poor second the rest of the day. Among

the subjects taught, relizion snd reading were csonsidered
the mnoet important. The first hour of the day wasz given
over to religion. Eeading was practiced frequenily the rest
of the doy, with arithmetic a natural second. The study of

history wae virtually unknown, and geography was merely

.,

/ touched upon E‘_wurc!e getvieben“j lowever the children

gan; of'ten. Teocher Leubner of Serbin told Birimann 4o have

them sing whenever they became tired and 1t seems that he
/used the suggestion frequently. Church hymns and a few

{:!; Cerman folk =ongs were the usual reportntre. Since school

Jihspcntian, either by the state or by the church wes unknown,
gvervona Adid o2 well ez he eould or caored Lo 4o under the

7 “eireumastonees, There were frequent interruptions in the
»
1

' mchool calendar, for the pastor was often celled to the sick
/\{ bed. That meant the emd of school for the dey. In additien
/ -?QP these interruptions, meny church holidoys were strictly
#hserved by special services which meant addlitional school
;&ays droppcde Besides the week of Christmas vaecatlon and
Fﬁwn waeks after Esster, there were two holldays afier

\\Pentecost, three "Nary-days", licheelmss, and the doy of



i ;T,ﬂ

a7

John the Baptist. When the erops, especially cotton,
reaquired egtra hands, school was also called off, A
systematie school ealendap was unknown in this part of the
coumtny.45

Before Eirkmannts marriage, one of his sisteres kept
house Tfor hime Vhen che married, another sister ecn-e to
inke her places These sinters acted an a conscience upon
the tired young minlster. Spesking of the recees periods,-
cupeeinlly at noon, Birlmann says, there was often mmech
nolse [@nbeé]fwhen the children van wild., He lilked %o
take his tiwme over the noon-meal [}Ich nen wmir Zeit" ] .
Tregquently his sistey hod to rening him that 4t woe time
for school. "Iths not ao alarring"-[éIat‘nieht 20 aengst-
11chf:], would be his yveply, but beitween his coneelence
aend his sister he sooh 2ot o scﬁ901.46

It ean be weli undergetood thot the schonl mepnped the
energy of EBirkmann from the many other duties in the parish,
Airter Alenigsal of gcheol at foup oleloel, eonfirmation
ingsiructions begane The first year of Birimeonn?s pastorate
there werg ten children Tor this clasgs, Ansther iuport-
ant tnsk for the minlster wae to look up the many new

German Temilies moving into the territory. The Amerlcans
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vere leaving the community and the Germans were toklng their
places. Vhile this gave the parish a bright future, it
regquired much attention, Thg 1ntern§1 difficulties of the
congregatlon had to be solved, For all these reuponsibil—
itles together with the four days spent in school, teaching
made the pastor's task quite heavye Small wonder thét the
comnunity became accustomed to polinting out‘the parsonage
as the house where the lamp was purnlng late into the night.
Since Birkmenn was a great lover of nature, he found
this interesting country. At first there were no roads
through the woods and his viasits to his members, though
aprduous, were adventures to hlm.- The peat bogs near Fedor
became his camping ground in periods of relaxation, %ild
animals weye not uncommon and since there was no fence
around the church, they often found a haven under the church
and the pnrsonage.47 In the years of his long pastorate at
: Fedor, Birlmann gathered many collectlons, especially
butterflies, One of these wos éxhibited at the World?s
Feir at Ste. Louis and laster was purchased by St. Paul's

48
College of Concordia, liizsouri.

475epimann, G.D.Ve, April 28, 1932,
487 nterview with Dr. Birkmann, Glddings, Texas,
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One of the important events for the children sz well as
for the tenching=-pastor was the annusl Christmas celebration,
ilany weeks of practice went into the program for this cele-
bration, although the same one wn; used every year, lione of
the children missed school for every one enjoyed the hour of
practice every day even though it meant learning many Bible
passages from the 01d Testament prophecies, as well as the
usual Christmas hymns. .

The congregation joined in the spirit of the Christmas
celebration by contributing twenty-five cents per person, a
fair sum for those days. irom this money the gifts for the
children were purchased. The children received ecandy, nuts,
not pecans for they were too common, but "niggsertoes", hazel
nuts,and almonds, a8s well as apples and oranges, In order
that something lasting mizght be found among the gifta, s reli-
glous book or picture was included. While there were usually
no evening services in the rural parishes, Christmsess and lew
Year's Eve were exceptions. A hslf dozen kerosene lamps
brought by the farmers augmented the "Kronenleuchter" and the
festive candles to give the congregatlon sufficlent light.
Crowds were attracted for some five miles around even though
there were no heating accommodations in case of a "norther",
When the happy hour for the service came, the young pastor
forgot his troubles in the spirited singing. of the children.
The evening!s program included & question for each child and

a short talk by the pastor. Later these talks were dropped
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for as Leubner hed told Birkmenn, he micht just as well spare
hinself the trouble for this event and let the children be the
prcachers.49 :

The Christmas tree furnished by the congregation was
usually procured from the cedar wqodé near arda where there
were some particularly tall trees. Birkmann tells the gstory
when on one occasion there almost was no tree, which mi: ht have
been a major tragedy for the children. It so happened  that the
Presbyterian Church in Giddings also ordered ita tree from
Varda, One of the members of the redor congregation had brought
hie trece in from Warda and had stopped in town. While he was
gone one of the Presbyterian meumbers seeing the tree v the
weg on thought 1t was for his.churchj consequently he took it.
Vihen the ~edor farmer came back his tree was zone, ond sadly he
had to return home wi thout the coveited tree. There he gsve the
strange explanation, " I had a tree but they stole it from me."
Hurriedly a smaller one was gotten near Fedor. “eeks laler one
of the deacons of the Presbyterian Church apologetically told
Birkmann what had happened.so

Besides taking care of his own parish, Birkmann answered

2 request from a number of Danish Lutherans living in nearby

29Birkmann, GeDsV.Dec. 19, 1935.
50y nterview with Dr. Birkmann, Giddings, Texas.
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Lexington to preach to them occasionally. The Fedor congre-
gation readily granted permission for thelr pastor to make
this trlp on Sunday afternoons.®l There was no Luthersn church
at Lexington but services were held at times in the Baptist
church and sometimes in a school house.®® This added to the
work but was gladly sccepted by Birkmann because of the
increased opportunities to preach.

Over on the San Antonio prairie the newly organized Eben
Ezer congregation of Proft still had its difficulties. Proft
had already left for Sherman, Texas, and the Rev. Kaspar was
his successor. One of the chief troubles of Eben Ezer was
that they had not received a written release from the Fedor
congregation. When the synodiesl visitor, the Rev. Koeptering
of Missouri, came in 1878 the matter was ceolled to his
attention, After an investigation he was able to settle the
dispute to the satisfaction of both congregations. At the
eame meeting in which this breach was healed, Koestering
announced that Xilian had admitted his heresy and had recanted. °°
This was a rellef to many for it hurt these good people to see

their former leader goling astray.

5liinutes, Octs 14, 1877.
52pirimann, G.DeVa., Hove 13, 1930

53yinutes, Jan, 17, 1878, Kilian had taught & form of chiliasm
contending that Judgment Day was not -to come before a general
conversion of all heathen, For a full account see Repp,
Ope EE- XVII’ (Ap!‘!.l, 1944) Pe 15 fe




Turing July 1879 Birk&nnn received a call to serve the
mission ststion at Dalles and vieinity. The people of Fedor
were loath to have their pastor go and asked him to decline
the cnll.54 Young Birkmann turned to Koestering for advice
and on the basis of it again asked the congregetion for a
release which was reluctantly g!.ven.s5 Thus ended Birkmann's
Tirst pastorate at Fedor,

The congregation lost no time in getting & new pastor. A
week after releasing Dirkmann they called the Reve. Ja iis Hlaisch
of Hapris County.ss This call wes at first declined. W“hen it
wae sent the second time ilalsch accepted it and was installed
on the twenty=-third Sundsy after Trinity.57

The Pastor Maisch had hed much experience in the ministry.
He had been the first German Lutheran pastor in Kansas City,
lissouri. In 1874 he hed heen called to Klein, Texas, and
lzter to Cypress. ile wns sn energetic preacher who could
capry his audience along with his zeal. During his pastorate
at Fedor he preached in Lexington and licPade =g wall as at

Corn Hill (Welburg) in Williamson County. Considering the

“Suinutes, July 29, 1879

SBrsmutes, Auge 17, 1879

56 inutes, Aug. 24, 1878%.

fvﬁinutes, Nove 12, 1879. Der Lutheraner, XXXVI (Jan. 15, 1880)

soys 1t wos the twenty-fourth Sunday af ter Trinity.




difficulty of travelling at the time, this was qulte a mission-
ary program. Unfortunately daisch could not do lasting work in
a comﬁunltyose

The same energetie trait wvhich made lialsch an aggressive
missionary seems to have made him a strict disciplinarian in
school. Consequently he was feared by the children more than
he was loved. This was quite a contrast to his more easy-

going predecessor, llaisch felt that his teaching duties

hindered his mission interests so that 1t wasn't long before he

suggested that the time had come for -the congregetion to call
2 full-time teacher. This was done in August 1880.59 Af Ger
two attempts the congregation suceessfully called Henry
Neﬁrling,6° who had been born in Wisconsin and studieé at the
teachera' college in Addison, Illinois, TUnder Professor
Duemling he had become intensely interested in neture study.
Fehrling served as teacher in Chicago for a few years, but
because of his health coeme West to his former schoolmate
Gerhard Killan, now at Serbin, Texas. Here his interest in
nature was increased by the variety of flora and fauna all

around him. Regeining his health, he accepted a eall to

584510 Brief des alten Past. G Birkmann...", Oct. 22, 1924.
Austin archives.

5% iinutes, Aug. 29, 1880.

6°m1nutes, Jan. 30, 188l.




Houston, where he was the first teacher of the preasent Trinity
School, From Houston he came to Fedor in 1881, The open.
country, the peat bogs,-the streamns and woods were just what
a man of his interests found ideal. The bird l1life held a
pérticular interest for him.sl

Af ter a pastorate of three years, lMalsch received a call
to Williamson County from one of the mission stations which he
had organized. The congregation granted him a release, and so
was again without a paator.63 A few weeks later Nehrling
received a eall from Plerce City, lMissouri. Though he had
been in Fedor only a little over a year, he wanted to make a
change because of hils health. Action was postponed because
the congregation was quite concerned about getting another

pastor.64 However when they decided to call Birkmann back

65
from Dallas, a release was granted to Nehrling.

alnirkmann, GeDeVep Feb, 26, 1951, [For a more comglete sketch
of HNehrling see Ce. e Ge EifrI%, "Henry Nehrling" in the
Lutheran School Journal, LXVI (Jan., 1931).

€24 pkamnn-iiichalk, Geschichte der Dreleinigkelts-Gemeinde zu
Fedor, ms. in I‘edor archives,

55m1nutéé, July 2, 1882,

64ﬁinutes, July 30, 1882.

ssmindtes, Aug. 6, 1882, llehrling's tesching career was short.
He took up his interest in neture as livelihood., In time he
became internationally famous. His great work was "lNord-
amerikanische Vogelwelt", Iuch of his information for this
study_had been geined in Texas. (Birkmann, G.D.V., Feb. 26,
1931).




Birkmann wae installed by Paztor Buchsachacher on the
twenty-third Sunday after Trinity 1882, %% and so began his
second pastorste at Fedore During his absence influx of new
settlers had increased greatly. 1In 1881 liaisch hed reporied
gome S54 souls for the parish, an increasze of 119 in two

years.67 Thls continued during the decade as Germans came in

from Saxony and from nearby Serbin.ﬁa
liow that teacher lehrling had been called away, it was
nccesgary for Birkmann o teach again till the vacancy could
be filled. Finally early in 1683 the congregation procured
Ge lle Schleier, Ie had been a teacher in llemphis, Tennescee,
but when yellow fever raged so terribly in that city the
congre;ation was completely decimated leaving them without a
gchool, Schleier moved to Sherman, Texus, where he lived with
his parents until he was called to Fador,69 Because the
parsontze was being renovated, Birkamnn was living in the
teadher's house when Schleier arrived. OConsequently the latter,
whe was still a bachelor, boarded with the pastor. Ly
" Christmss of that year it was possible for the pastor to

' G6pep Lutheraner, XXXIVIII (Dec. 1, 1882).

%75 vnoaical Report, Southern District, 1882.

¢ 68 pimann, G.DeV., Septe 27, 1934.

thirkmann, "Iehrer an unsern Gemeindeschulen in Texas" in
Texas Distriktsbote, XV (April, 1930).
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move into the parsonage. Schleier thereupon left for lorth
Texes o bring back his bride on New Year's Day.’0

Teacher Schleier remalned at Fedor until 1886. Gesides
being tescher and church organist, he was postmaster for a
short while, having the post office in his home. At another
time he represented the federal govermment to the "toughs" in-
Knobs i11ls, west of Fedore L

In 1884 the congregation. built a new school, a separate
building from the church, It was bullt at the cost of some six
hundred dollars and served its purpose Tor about twentye-seven
vears, It nmeasured 24 x 36 feet and was 14 fect hlgh.72 The
donble patent seats were one of the new Teatures of which
everyone wag proud. A cloth hlackboard was fixed acroas the
entire rear wall to supplement the little one that hed served
beforec., Unfortunately Schleier's stay was cut short., In 1886
ke wes ecalled to the Warda school where. a peculiar situation
relative to the public school question needed a man of his

calibre.’9 Fedor, however, hed similar difficulties snd more

7OEirimann, GeDeVes Sept. 27, 1934,

71mich01k, Brief History of Trinlty Lutheran School, ms. in
writer'!s possession. € western port ol the present Lee
County has always been known for its rough characters, 014
timers 2till tell of the "neck-tie" parties populer at the

tine.

72Birkmann-r.:ichalk, Ceschichte der Dreieinigkeits~Cemeinde zu
Fedor, ms. in lFedor arcnives.

T3Infra, pe 57
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were top come, but the Vards cungregafion prevuiled.74

Turing the time theat Schleier taught, Birkmenn continued
his mission trips beyond his own parish. Eeginnin: in 1884
he received permlssion ts go to Palge every other Sunday after-

75 1y 1836

nuon and once every other month on Sundsy morning.
he received permizsion io travel io Thorndale once every three
montns.76 Now that Schleier left, Birkmenn had is curbtail
som@ of his activitiss in order to give time io teaching
achool. Tcacheérs were ln great demand, much more than the
supply could assuirey; and the congregation wag forced to be
without assistance for some time. In aplte of every citewpt
t{o obiain a teacher, Feaag could not be supplieds Iinally
Pacior Stiemke, President of the Southern District, canlled
Birlomonn'’a attention to & Hermann Rhode in Gretna, Louisiana.
Rhode had come from Germany and éfter teking a collogquium

proved himself eligibis. In the meanwhile he was working in

a hotel at od4d jobs, chielfly as bar-keeper. 1In 1887, he came

741nterview with Dr. Ge Dirkmanm, Giddings, Texas., In Fedor
the Lutheran school was the only one in the neighborhood.

/ Howaver intermittantly public school was conducted in an old

" lodge hall. Sometimes it wos open, but more often there was
nc school st all. 4ireqguently the schoel term lasted only
three menthsz. (Interview with Karl Dube, Sr., Houston, Texas,.)
Later the co-called Patschke aschiool waa opered cboutl our
miles north of Fedor and another three miles east of the
communitye. The third was close to Palge. Iiosot of these did
not begin t11l 1890, (Birkmenn, Giddings News,iay G, 19:2)

7Puinutes, March 2, 1884.

/. "Guinutes, April 4, 1886,
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to Fedor as temporary teacher, to be cdlled permanently if he
proved suitable. Rhode was eble to work on the sentiment of
the congregation so that he got a permenent call.vv. It wasn't
long before he proved to be s terrible failure, The habits,
probably acgquired as bsr-keeper, were itoo st;ong for Rhode, He
would indulge in drink o0 heovily that he brutally mistreated
his familye. At first Birkmann treated him kindly, almoaé
too lenjently. ~After about two years he was dismissed. ' C
Ironically enough he bzcame pastor of some free-lance church
after this, Though his psrishoners were willing ito close an
eye te his drunkenness at first, it became too much even for
them anﬁ they dismissed hime 9
Birksmon hed %o step into the school once more, Almost
8 year elapsed before a teacher could be procured. An attempt
waz mode to call Werner of Ste Paul's at Serbin. The appeal to
the Serbin congregation to release Verner was made on. the basis
of the discontent im the congregation caused by the Rhode epi=
svde, which endangered the existence of the scheool., However
these circumstances did not convince Ste. Paul's and they

refused to grant Verner a releaae.so After waiting another

VIInterview with Dr. G. Birkmann, Glddinga, Texacs,

78her Lutheraner, VL (Oct. 22, 1899).
79

Interview with K. Dube Sre, Houston,'Tezus.

8°m1nutes of &t. Paul!s Serbin, Nov. 10, 1889,
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yeer, the congregation called Frederilck Toepke of New Orlesns
who nccepted and was 1nstalled on the fourteanth Sunday after
Trinlty, 189045+

It was quite natural that the school had suffered greatly
during these many vacancles and changea, For long periods,
school was discontinued entirely.82 When Doepke took over,
the school took a new lease on life for he was evidently a come
petent teacher, For one thing, he introduced better discipline
and roiged the morale of the achool. Puplls were cxzpected to
clean their shoes on entering the school roomy books were now
arranzed nestly in the desks, and other marks of tidiness were
raquired of these young rustics. Though formerly the pupils
customarily spit on their slatea and energetically wiped out
the written work with their sleeves, a moistened rag or a sponge,
though a rare itenm, hnd to snower this purpose,89

The %eaching in secular branchea was improved greatly. Eng=
lish which had beceme more or less & dead language In this comme
unity was restored to a more prominent place, Rhode knew very
little English and quite naturally neglected it. Yhen some of the
pupils on prapre occasions left for secondary schools they had more
; 64

trouble with English than with Latin, Doepke's lezsons were so

81statistical Yearbook, 1390, Doepke remaipned until the end of

BzInterview with Ksaprl Dube Sr., Houston, Texas,
sarnterview with Kerl Dube Sr., Houston, Texas,

841nterview with Karl Dube Sr., Houston, Texas,




well planned that even the problens were worked.ont. His
inatruetions contained notes to the leat detail. For this
reaaon Dirkmann found 1t easy to step into the classroom to
aszist Doepke when he beecame 111, which happened quite fre~
quently. In fact thg teacherts health gave way entirely so
that he had to rasign.as
The school grew rapidly during this period, the enrslliment
being about eightyes With Toepke's resignation, the congregation
had to cost about for a succesaor, After some time J, Daenzer

aceepted the call. e tooc wos a' competent teacher though the

nunmber of puplls was too great for him to hendle.s 4= @ resuli,
aome of the children were often helpless and idle, a condition
which lowered the stendard of the school, ihen zome of the boys
euntered the synodical high schools they found themselves below
the average, especcially in English which hsed been neglectaed by
the teacher and disliked Ly the pupils, In fact the speaking

of Knzlish scemed to go against the grain of ‘the children, for

théy were loathe to usce it outside of schuol.ss

The enlarged school wes dedicated in 1889; but the promise
ugfa continuous growth d¢id not materlpiize. Soon after the
dé#icntion of the new school, the immigration into the commnity

came to a stop.

BBInterfiow with Ire Ge. Birlmann, Ciddings, Texas, Doepke lived
'a in Iouston for atout ten years. ILater “he began teucninv again

\/ " .at Little Rock, Ark.
BGLetter {from the Reve Paunl Birkmann to the writer,
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Defore this time & number of famillies hed noved to
Thorndale vhere Birkemnn went every tﬁvee months %o conduct
aervices. After 1800 the exondus beccame 50 generel that the
growth of the Fedor congrcgalion ceéme to & complete stande
8%ill. In turn a cnngregntinn was orgenized at Thorndale,
vwhilch today is the largest in the Texss Disntriot, !

An importent event for any of these congregetions was to
be the host to the Pletrict Synodical Convention. Feder hagd
this privilege when the Southern District met in its midse
in 1001 from Febhruary 8 to 12 The Reve fdoloh Iramer read
the doctrinal essey on the Third Petition of the Lordis
‘rayvere. Ii'se Fe Plepar, Presldent of the General Synod, was

the national representstiﬁe.av
then Imenzer left Fedor in 1902 to ccecept & cnll in
Illinnlﬂ,ﬂa Birkmann tought school during the vacancy. IHe
wae assigted for & time by his step-son, John V., Behnken,
‘who was a ministeriasl student at the St.John's College,
ftinfielﬂ, lansas, BehNien was well liked by the children
jbccause he ahéwed then new kindg of games and nparticularly

W

LS

y B%a: . P _
s “foynodical Report, Southern District, 190l. The Staie of
jL______m___E__E = 9

\
L

Texas wos o par € western Dietrict until 1882, Heenuse
of its phenomenal growth and extensive territory, the Uestern
Distriet was divided, and the State of Texss become part of
the Southern District. In 1906 Texas became a separate

£ 3 District.

-

. B8yearboolk of 1902




because he could make the study of geography resl to them
by col ling thelr atteﬁbton,to locel phenumena.ag
Teacher e E. Redeker came in 1902 &nd wasz instzlled on
September 20, 90 The congregation was again fortunate to
have a teacher who was well llked by the children. Kkedeker
loved to assoclate with them and spent much time riding and
fishing with the boys. On Christmas and maé Yearis Dasy he
purchascd a large quantity ol fireworks for the srmusemnent of

his puplls,: The more awbitious ones received specinl aid in

& night school which he conducted.®’ But in splte of this
he di¢ not like Texas. Dubking September, 1204 he received a |
call from Okawville, Illinois, which he wanted o accepte
Vhen the call was brought b®fore the congregatiion, he gave
health as a reason for accepting it. The peoplie demurred
because he had not been sick before. They knew he had fre-
quently hinted that he wanted to go up north and believed
this %2 be his real reason. DMNo emount of arguling moved
Redeker so that he finally tendered his resignation which
vas acceéted under prateﬂt.ge
To replace Redeker, the aged Luebner was called from

Greens Creek, Texas.gs He was installed on the twentieth

9°Iearbnok of 1902,
o1

Letter from the Rev. Paul Birkmann to the writer.

gzxinutes, Septe 18, 1904,

N\ %Puinutes,sept. 20, 1904.
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Sunday after Trinity,94 1004, and remained until 1908, There
were about sixty children in his room, certainly a hesvy
tezching load for a man the age of Leubner.

Though the achool hed many interruptions and changes, the
congreration grew doctrinally under the faithful =inistry of
Elriemann, Education wos usnally limited to the church school
but it was sufficient for the siwple needs of the pesple.

ner Tutheraner was read regularly by the people and they were

well informeéd on the work of their churche Spiritually they
were a stauneh people, helping to give a bagkhone to Texas
Lutheranion, The statizstieal report for 1804 showed that there
were 440 goule in the congregation, of which 240 were comminle-
cants and seventy voiting members, There were sixty-seven in

achool at this tine.g5

94:\%9;3;-13 ook, 1804,

5ggprbook, 1904,




HOLY CROSS EVANCELICAL IUTHERAR CHURCH
WARDA, TEXAS 1873 - 1905

The beginnings of Holy Cross Church lie in the
discenslons within the Serbin congregation. After Ernst
Leubner, teacher at 3t. Paul's Sérbin, and his party left
to organize St. Peter's church it did not take 1nhﬁ Tor
Karl Teinert, one of the other dissenters, to air his griev-
ances acainet Pastor Kilian. He usgd his influence %o per-—
suade & number of farmers ne r the Rabbs Creek section that
thelr interestsz wonld be best served if they shonld sep-

arate from the two Serbin congregationa and organize their

ovm parish,”®

Teinert had been deeply hurt in the loss of his lecader=-
ghip at Serbin and evidently sought to regain 1t by hoving
a congregation of his own. Since the people near Rabbs
Creclkr had difficulty in senrnding their children to the Serbin
school, Teinertts efforte to break away were succeasinl ;nd

2 third parish was organlzed. Vhat was first a request for

®6xar1 Teinert was the leading member of the Wendish
migration and at first a staunch supporter of Kilian,
Together they kept the colony lntact during the early.
hardships. Teinert had been the congregatlon’s cantor,
but with the eslling of a teacher (Leubner) he was asked
%0 surrender his supervision of the music Tor the ser-
vliseBe. This led to a series of dlsputes, and Killan
found himself embroiled in the two strong factlons of
the congregation. (For a full dlscussion of these dls-
sensions as well as earlier efforts to organize a con=-
gregation at Rabbs Creek, ope Repps Op.cit.,XVI (April,
1943), pp. 23-28 and XVI (July, 1943), pp. 48=53.
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a separate school grew through the insistence of Teiners
Into a desire for a szeparate churche rinally on Sunday,
warch 17, 1873 27

Lutheran Church of the Unaltered Augsburg Confesslion on

they organized as the "Evangelical

Rahhs Creel, Fayetite County, Texas" 8 with eight families
rep&ssentedgg from both the =¢s Paulls and the St. Peter?s
congregations of Sevbine Two days later they applied for
their releascs from parent congregatione but no actlon was
taken.loo Viithout waiting for a definite answer from the
2arbin congregations the group resoived to csll a pastor,
A week efter the initisl meeting they cslled the Reve lir.
Endrew Schmidi, of Louls Settlement, a congregatlion organ-
ized by K11lian.1% in drawing up the call Teinert's faction
first thought of ealling themselves a liendish-German con-
grezation, but this had %o be dropped for the obvious rea=
con that it was impossible to get a Yend pretor., OSome of

the members had thought of calling Proft of Fedor, who was

87Der Lutheraner,XX¥ (ilove 1, 1874).

®20a11 to Andrew Schmidt, MS. in writer's collection.
95, E, Noebus, GeDeVes liny 3, 1023

1007hey applied to St. Peter's larch 19 (Der Lutheraner,
XXX liove 1, 1874) and t0 Ste Paulls, larch 22 (Linutes
of that congregation).

IOIGall to Andrew Schmidt, liS. in wiriter's collection,




a Vend, but after the break with Serbin the congregetion
knew it would be ‘imposslble to get hime. As & friend of
£ilian, Proft would never,ﬁave accepted the cnll.lo2 iIf the
Rabbz Creek congregation was to get sny pastor at sll they
would have to be satislied with a German and for this res=
son fchnlidt was elected, How Teinert's loyalty to the
Veundlish could brook this, is difficult to understand, but
pereonal anim;sity to Kilian no doubt hnd much £9 de with
ite Vhat happened to the call to Schmidt is hard te soy.
Eilien wrote Buenger, ilay 6, 1873, that Schmidt had acecepted
the call and was expected to be at Rabbs Creek by July 1,
whera they were alicady building o church.19® Between the
time Schmidt hed accepted the e2ll and the time he was to
be installed, word csme from the President of the Wegtern
Diotrict that the newly organized congregetion could not be
roecognized because of the friction with the Serbin congre=-
getions, This was gulte naturel since the members could not
get & peaceful dismissal from Serbin and the officials of
Synod dared not overlook the conduct of ihe faetisn.1°4 A
numbepr of letters passed betwean Preslident Duengepr end Earl

Teinert in which the Prseident tried to reazon with him,

1022ugra, Pe Be

10%;haft of letter in Serbin archives.

104y a7t of letter by Kilian io Duenger, Oct. 6, 1876
Serbin archives.
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but to no avail. ZEven if everything had been done in an
orderly manner, the great dearth of ministers would not have
warranted such a small locality in getting a fourth minister
when lapger aorecas of the couniry had none at a11,195

Vhen Teinert saw thet his little group could receive no
of ficial recognition from the Missouri Synod and was refused
@ pastor, he said, "Then, I'1l get one myself" [Enann hol!?
ich wmir einenf] ané set out for Rutersville, where the Tekxas
Syned had recently established a zeminery for theslogical
stndents. It seems that he hed little difficulty in pro-
curing one. When the first St. Peter's was organized, this
Synod made investigetions before they entered the field
held by ﬁissouri.los In this cese howaver, the Texas Synod
seemcd to be more eager to make inroads into this colony and
without further investigation sssigned Eduard Zapf to this

107

parigh,. Zapf was a young man who had just come over from

Switzerland and a graduaste from the nlasion institution at
Ste Chrischona.lo8
In Xiliant's letter to Buenger of llay 6, 1873, it was

mentioned that the new group was building a church., Though

losznterview with Mr. Teinert's son of Viarda, Texas, who had
. these letters in his posseasion,

Reppy 9p.cit., (January, 1843), p. 115 f,
107

108

Der Lutheraner, XXX (lNove. 1, 1874).

Mgebroff, 22.0117-' Pe 5524




the officinl nome of the eongreéatlnn indicated that the
church was to be in Fﬁjﬁtte‘cuudty, the site of the first
building was actuhily in Iee Ccunfy, on the present Dunk's
homestend. 102 on August 24 1873 the- new pastor wae installed
and perhaps the church was dedieated at the same tine.llo '"he
freme church with é small tower was natursllv very simple,
measuring about 20 x 30 feete

Sinece these people were vefy mach concerned about a
schonl, i% was understcod thaﬁ Zapf would also tecch. Thus
during the second week in November school was begun, however
with only half-day sesslons for the time helng,lll It
planued to have full sessions later which were to sontinue

for eipght months of the year, In time equipment was pupre

chased and the school vas in full swing.llz

logxllian refers to 1t as belng in Fayette County, oc does

a0 the eall to Reve Schuidte. However according to the
people in this vieinlty the Tunk place 1s in Lec County.
Vhe ther .the county line was changed or whether there was
o general vagueness as to the line, is not certain. Xilian
even refers to the place as Serbin, indicatilg that he con=
gidered it merely a pert of his parish, The present site
is, of course, in Fayette County.

110"1ltor1cul note left by Kilian ="Aug.24, 1873 a number of
“exas Synod men ( 3 ) celebrated taeir accession of the
Cross Church in Serbin, Fayette Co." Serbin archives,

115 nutes of Cross Church, ioVe 9, 1875. (the first offiecinl
WInuEesJ. Tierear ter referred to as"Crose linutesY

12ﬂross'minutee. Nove. 16, 1873,
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But there were to he some serious di“ficultieas for the
new pagtor. These people were naturally in sympathy with the
lilasourli Synod in spite of Teinert's influence, Eﬁey tried
to persuade Zapf to leave the Texas Synod and join liissouri
but failed., 1> inis led to dissatisfaction and some of the
people wanted to return to Serbin, especlally the women.ll4
On the other hand there was much vindicativeness with a few.
When Pastor Pallmer of St. Peter's church died, it was inter—
preted a= an act of Gody punishing the Serbin people for
having refused to psrmit Rabbs Creek group to transfer.115

In the meanwhile there wae steady growth in the con-
gragation, although Kilian wrote in ths latter part of 1873
that there were only thirteen families left in this parish,
Zapf repnéted in April, 1874, that there were gixty communie
contse IHe had confirmed six children during the firat eight
months.lla Perhaps Kilian could not realize that there might
be some progress even though there were no accessions at the
expense of his own flocke Several families living in the
territory were won by Zapf, and this contributed to the

growth of his congregation.

115pep Tutheraner, XXX (love. 1, 1874).

11443 8torical note left by Kilian - 1873. Serbin archives,
115Dev Lutheraner, XXX (ilove 1, 1874).

116inutes of the Texas Synod, Sessions of April 30, 1874.




Zapf was not %o miniater long in this parish for he
died on Jdune 25, 1874, lle had planned to merry =snd hefore
the news of his death and burial could reach hie bride, she
had left for Fayette County. A delegation from the congre-
gation met the bewlldere§ young woman at the train at
Giddings to tell her of the death of her fiance.ll? Zape
today lies buried in an unmerked grave with only a hacke
berry tree as tombstore and a rotting ceder railing as mute
witness that someone lies buried at the spot.lla

After Zapii's denth, Teinert again tmrned <o the Texas
Synod for a minister inspite of the fact that the congre-
gatiocn as such wanted a man from the Missouri Synod,
Domineering as he wes, he got his way. DBut unfortunately
for Teinert, there was no man svailable,for the Texas Synod
wag also expcriencing a shortage of minlstera.llg lowever
to take care of the emé}gency a Hr, F, Jdesse, jucst recently
llcenced, was asked by Telnert to serve. When the congreg-
ation demended that Jesse Join the Missouri Synod he rsfused,

believing that his own Synod was Lutheran enough.lzo When

1171niepview with lr. Kuntze of Viarda, Texas,

llaﬂrs. Dunk pointed out the grave on her property.

119?-.:gebl'off, OPe. cltey; De 120,

1205:90e aia finally leave the Texas Synod and became a
member of the lMissouri Synod in 1890. ligebroff,Geschichte
der Ersten Deutschen Evangelische TLutherischen Synode in
Te@X6Sy Pe O03e
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the people became nware of this attitude, they severed
connections with the Texas Synod ond prepared to straighten
out their difficulties with the !issouri Synod so that they
might be served by them. Telnert was so enraged that he
left the congregation. Both Serbin congregetions were
appealed to and public apology was made., To show the
sinceriiy of their act the situstion wos aired in Der

121

Lutheraner and an apology to the entire Synod was mnde.

Greif of St. Peter's congregation was asked to be the
vacancy pastor until sueh a time that they might be supp=-
lied by their pastor., Sie Paul's evidently acceptei the
apology but refused to conaider the congregation as a
geparaie group for a number of yearas, Synod now acted
quite guickly, seeing that they might lose this foothold, and.
a young grahunte of the theological seminnrj of =t. Louils was
assigned to the congregation. So on the fourth Sunday of
Advent, 1874, the Rev, lir. A. L. Timotheus Stiemke wes
ordained and installed by'ﬁastor Greif.122 The fact that
the Synod recognized loly Cross, as the congregation was
now ealled, was another wound for Killan who felt that the
entire situation should have been solved only by doing
away with this congregation, or at best, using the church

for a school to supply -this territory.

121, %x (Nov. 1, 1874).

122 1h14., Jan. 15, 1875,
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Stiemke woe itwenty-seven yeors of age and had bheen
born in Vasghington County, Visconsine Ile wos the firat
pastor of the Jerbin arca who was born in this conniry, ard
i1t might be added, that his arrival morked a new era for the
entire group, He had been educated at the Usrfin Tuther
College at Buffalo, llew York, end graduated from St. Louis,

Before coming top Texas he had married liiss Anna Schoening of
Fte Uodge, Iowae.12® Since he dild not know Wendizsh and a
number of people in his parish could not understand the
German, Stiemke began to learn Viendish as- well as he could.
e of ten had the elders come to him evenings to instruet
hine In time he wans able to give Holy Communion in that
language tope 174 During his stay in Holy Croass he won the
henrts of his people and even to this day the older oncs.
who 3till remember him, speak of him with high oraise,
Stroangely enough, these people still have vivid recollect=
iona of their achobling which théy received from him, 7r,
Birkmenn describes him o2 not only & popular preacher, but
well versed in many other fields. IHe was friendly, frank,

and =211 the while most humble. IHls executive abilily served

123, Ge prlmnn, Zun Gedacchiniss des seligen Pastors e Le
Limotheus SUiemidCe

i2e., Dirkmanny GeDeVey OCtey 1032 nede on the clippinge.




him well and loter he hecame the first preeident of the

newly organlized Southern Distri-t, ieeping this office osn
long o2 he remained in the SOuth."?5 Kilian lesrned to like
the man too and spolke of him with hizh regard even though he
never lgked the congregatilon. To accoumodate these cone
flicting feelings Kilian later suggested to Bueuger tha. he
transfer Stiemke to some other parish'nnd.slmply maintsin
Eely Creose as & branch achool.12€ Obvioualy Xilian e%1ll had
the 01d World ideas of episcopal church government,

Though Syned had reeognized Holy Crosas, Ste “anlta did
not, least of all Kilian. Uhen members of St. Paullfs living
in the Rabbs Creeck territary'w!shed to Join Holy Croess, they
could not get their tranafere, Pastor Tirmenstein on his
of "iciel visit to the congregnitione tried to settle this
matier, but evidently he made no progress.127

An early cricsis for the young church e"me when the Rev.
lire Lo T Greif wse caolled sway from St. Peter?s congregation
in Serbine. <&t. Peter's wes predominantly Cerman vhile Holy
Crozs had a large group of Wends who could not undersiand

Germane. Tirmenstein and others felt that the intercsts of

125Ein Lpief des alten Prote Ce Birkmann sn einen ['reund « o o

Oct. 22, 1924, Tustin archives.
126 ..¢% of letter by Kilian to Suenger, lsrch 27, 1676.
Serbin archives,

127 veoma Hinmtes, Hay 2, 1875
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all could be best served if St, Peterfs called ﬁtiemké, who
wag German. Proft, a Wend, who had just resigned from the
Fedor chureh could then be called to Holy Cross. 3L. Peter's
followed the suggestion s£nd called Stiemke. Then Holy Cross
heard of this they were quite ongry, and ﬁnnnimausly resolved
to keep Stiemke in spite of the advice of Tirﬂénstein. Yhile
they loved Stiemke, this wes not the only reason. 2rofit wes
gickly and they felt that he could not handle both the school
and the church.1®® ' Stiemke hesitated to make a decision ond
informed the congregation that he woul@ seek the sdvice of
Dr. Walther, President of the Synods In the meanvhile he

wae permitted to be the vacancy pasator of St. Peter':.lzg

Three weeks later VWalther's letter was resd to the
congregation urging them release of their pastor. The
conzregation, however, would not accede to this but finally
Stiemke submitted to his people and promised to return the
ca12.+%0 g%, Peter's was not satlsfied for they had still
énather plane Thcﬁ proposed that the two congregotions unite
to form one parish with the pastor living in Jerbin. This
of course, did not sult the Holy Crose people any betier and

they asked that the matter be dropped entirely.lsl‘

e

afupra, pP. 1l.

legCross Minutes, Jen. l. 1876. «

13000 0ae Minutes, Jone 19, 1E76.

151cr0as Minutes, Feb. 2, 1876,




The popularity and sucééss of '‘Stiemke ia slso quite
evident from the fact that.the number of membera in this
vicinity vho belonged to Ste Paulfs.and wanted to join Holy
Cross, became alarmingly greate Killian wrote to his son
that about one seventh of his congregontlon wanted ﬁo leave
hime1? It was ot this time thet Kilian again protested to
Buenger on the entire arran ement, He argued that St. Paunl's
had voted this fterritory a school, but never a separatiec con-
gregation. Now Synod had even confirmed the sct of thgse
"separatists” by placing them on an equal i‘osting.]‘s3 Evie
dently Kilian did not get much satisfaction for conditions
remained as they were. The matter waa finally settled when
the Reve Je o Koestering came from !Missouri in 1878, As a
result St. Paul!s fully recognized Holy Cross and the question
of uransfers was more or leas se;fsled.ls4 The next year Holy
Cross officlally Jjoined the lilssouri Synod.

Stiemke had dnterests beyond his immediate p rizh.

Though Winchester was close, he was interested in the efforts
being made there to start a congregation for a number of
Germans. -Simon Suess, a thaolug}gal candidate, had been

sent into the neighborhood to explore the possibilitica for

132praft of letter by Kilian to his son, Hermann, Feb. 28,
1876. Serbln archives. :
133ppar & of letter by Kilian, iarch 27, 1878. Serbin archives.

134£1nutes of St. Paul'’s, Serbin, Jans 135, 1878,




a church, but thue far nothing cdefinite hed tsken places
Holy Cross was anxious to have things progress and promised
to help Suess o build a house whenever the people at
Winchester thougﬁt it ripe to begin work there. In time

this project failed and Suess left to teke a charge at

Traiburg, Texas Near Engle .

=hilcmke served Holy Cross some five years when he
suddenly got two cul;s, one from Hew Orleans and one from
Houetone The matter of the lNew Orleans call was caaily
setiled, but when it came to the Houston call there was a
more serious problen. In Houston the congregation had had
difficuliy with Rev, Caspar Braun, who had severed connecte
iona with Synod and had goiten hold of the church and the
properiy, leesving the conservative Luthersn group without a
pastor and a8 place to worship. . In spite of the evident need
of getting & pastor, loly Cross was not convinced that Hous=
ton weg the more important charge, because they c=sw the harm
that might come to their own achool and church. The e=ll
was therefore returned but when 1t was sent the second time
Stienmke pernunded‘the congregetion to allow him to leave for

S
Hoastnn.15

1350ros= Minutes, Jane 1, 1880. The Houston congregetion 1s
the present Trinity Lutheran Church, the largest congre-
gation of the ifissouri Synod in Texas,
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Though Holy Crcas had loat its pastor, they were
undaunted and lmmedlately resolved to c2ll & new mon, GCeyep
of Ste Peter's wes asked to aeprve during the vacancy.lsG
Yat a year passed befors a nlinister wass procured and the
school suffered conslderably, in fact, wes closed entirely.
Al ter many months of walting, the Rev. Mr, Gotifried Buche
schachey wrs colled from Alglera, Louisisna, and installed
Sexagenima Sunday, 1881, by Geycr.lsv

Buchschacher was a wost eolorful character with an
intereating life atgry.lsa He_wns born in Eriswyl, Zern
Canton, Swibzerldnd, and after & liberal education left
Lurope to come to Amerlcae VWhille in this country he became
interaated in the liethodliat minlstiry and was ordained in
1876 or 1876, He served in the lMethodist church af York-
town and iredericksburg, Texase While in Texas, hiz niten=
tion was called to the :lisszouri Synod. Consequently he hed
a long ccrrespondence with Ire Welther and assiduoualy read

Ter Imtheranere He bacame convinced of the tcachings of the

Tutheran Church and £inally took & colloquy for the mine

139

iztry at Hew Orleans in 1879, His first cherge in

136 B '

Croga Hinutes, Jane 6, 1880
157
lasﬂ*ahschacher was born Moy 8, 18852, For his interssting

biography s€@ GeleVe, NOve 11, 1927, La Grange Journal,

Toves LC27, or Louston Post, 1926.

Synodical Report, Weatern District, 1C79.

Der Tamtheraner, ¥XVII ( April 1, 1821).
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the Lutheran Church was at ‘lgilers, Louisiana, and from there
he came to Holy Cross. ’ ‘
The scout reports available show that Holy Crozs had
been growing steadily. At the end of the first year Stiemke
reported twenty-seven pupils in the school, including five
who were not members.+20" The next year [}5751 he FEPOQfEE

thirty-five pupils,~il

and this figure soon grew tc forty
pupile.t®® The first report the Reve. Buchschacher sent in
8% the end of 1881 showed that the school had soon regained
its standing with sixty-three puplls, There were at this time

320 souls, fifty=-four of which were vuting'members.143

With the work thus begun by Stiemke and now successe-

fully carried on by Buchschacher, the church building of

1873 was soon too small. In April, 1881, the question of a
new church was discussed. Mr. T. Hebrig, s member, offered
ten acres for & new church site, which offer was readily
accepted, Tith such a good exsmple, § 7165.00 was immediately
subscribed. Elaborate plans were drawn up calling for a

church 70 x 34 x 20 feet with a tower of 70 x 75 feet.l44

1405, 041 cal Report, Western aistrict, 1875.

14lsxgodica1 Regort,"wéstern district, 1876.
1425-nodical Report, Western district, 1879.
143

Synodical Report, Vestern district, 1882.

144 crgss Hinutes, April 3,°1861.
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"hen the actnal cost for such a bullding was figured out, it
proved too expensive and a smaller building was planned. ‘The
new plan called for a bullding 60 x 30 x 20 feet.145 It was
2 wise move that the sight was changed, for the congregation
was now two and a half miles farther from Serbin and served
the general interest much better. Holy Cross is now located
at this site, called Warda. The old church was torn down
and the lumber was salvaged for the new church.146 Proft
who had been helpful in designing St. Paul!'s church, also

147 and car=-

made & model for the pulpilt in the new church,
ved some of the intriecete designs. The new church wes dedi-
cated to the service of the Triune God on the Sunday after
Easter, 1082, midst great festivities, %8

Eesides teaching four days a week and being in the
middle of & bullding program, Buchschacher's interest for
organizing work in new rields could not be stermed. As
early as the surmer of 1881 he received permission to preach

every two weeks ‘in Giddinga.149 In time he helped orgenize

1450ross Hinutes, liay 24, 1881l. -

14631rkmann, GeDeVep July 12, 1934, Elsevwhere Dr., Birkmann
write that the old church was moved to the present site
and used for a school (G.D.V.,March 4, 1937) however the
minutes show that the school was entirely rebuilt as well
as the church, though at a slightly later date.

1470ros= Minutes, Sept. 17, 188l.

148per rutheraner, XXXVIII (May 1, 1882).
148¢poss uinutes, July 24, 1881.




a church 2t Giddinge, Winchester, Greens Creek, and Corn
Hill or Walburge Throughout his busy life, Buchschacher
was @ most diligent missionarye In hormony with his mission
zeel & unique service wos held in Werda at the time of the
pasioral conference of Septemer, 1883, Two missionariceces to
Texns were ordained at the time: Theodore Kuhn for Dallas
and vieinity and Je. Schwoy for Coloredo Cuunty.]‘so

With the growth of the school it =oon beceme apparent
that some assistance must be procuréd for the yuung pastor.

Two years had glready been gpent teaching and the congros-

gacion rezolved to get helpe Through the adviece of Siicrke,

now President of the Southern District, Henry Werner was

temporarily engoged for the school, Werner, born in Germany,

had come to this country at the age of eighteen. After some
privait€ instructions and a number of terms at the normal
school in Addison, Illinocisy he was prepared for the tecache
ing professions Due to illness he come South and now, alter
hiz recovery, he was proposed to the Veorda congregutinn.lsl
. Afler teaching a few months he wes so suecessful that oly

Brocs wanted to esll him permanently. They resolved to buy

|
I
: }'1“'93';1rkmann, GeDeVey Febe 83 1940, Schwoy did not remain in

Texaa long. We went north and later hecame professor at

Sk

f Concordia Inetitute, Bronxville, New Yorlk.

L6lpspimann, Texas Distrilktsbote, X (Noe 4, Hove, 1925).
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a housge for him and had everything ready for him to become

a permanent teacher. Verner felt that he could not accej&
the ecnll because of his health, and the congregation dedided
tc call someone else. Verner soon left for Giddings where
he taught for a short tinme.

Turning again to Stienmke for ndﬁice, the congregation
colled I'e Regener of Hew Orleans as teacher.lsa There were
elghty-two children in the school and it is no small wonder
that Buchschacher needed help. Since the congregation had
agrown to 485 somld, it was to support two men.155 Re gener
proved %9 be & good men and the children learned to 1ike.h1m

very much, He often anterﬁnined them with the violin, naing
154

1t in his singing lessonse
Tﬁe aize of the school mede it necessary that some 1

restrictions be mede on children of non-members. Conse-

quently the congregation passed a resolution that such child-

Pen should not be sccepted without the specific consent of

155

the eongfeg&tion. lready in the next meeting conaent

152 cross HMinutes, Second Pentecost Day, 1683.

155§gnodicml Report, Southern district, 1883.

15% nterview with Nrs. Dunk, Varda, Texae.

4

/Y65 Croge Minutes, Sept. 2, 1883.
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was glven to two familles, one of which promised toc Join by
Hew Year.156 Ividently the opportunities could nut be overe
looked in spite of the crowded condltions.

Lfter all, however, there was a limit to the copacity
of the school bullding, even though it seemed that there was
no 1limlt to the teaching load. In October, 1885, the matter
of adding a second room was brought up. After some discussion
1t was resolved to introduce the second room, but with the
understanding that state aid should be sought for the second
teachert's support. vhile it was understood this was to be a
temporary measure, there was no telling how "temporary" it
might bee Children in both rooms were to be instructed in
religion, either in the morning or in the afternoon. Even
the children of such who were in the room supported by state
aid were expected to pay tuition to the church. Since the
present building could not be divided into two rooms, it
was resolved to build an addition to the schoolhouse.18¢

The question of accepting state aid had vexed some of
the other congregations previous to this. The general
opinion throughout the Synod was that no state funds should
be accepted for the support of parlsh schools, since this
practice was regarded aQ a mixture of Church and State and
would lead to state control of the religious training in the

schools. Kilian at opne time was inclined to accept state

166¢ross Hinutes, Sept. 30, 1983,

157 cross Minutes, Oct. 4, 1885.




aid until his son Gerhord gave him the Synodical viewpoint.- 58
In Fedor a similar condition had arisen and state aid was

159 In order %o understand this

accepted fof & short time.
confusion, the conditions of the time &nd the background of
the leaders must be laken into condideration. EBEoth Kilian
and Prof% were from the 01¢ World where the state supporied
religious schools. It was qulte natural that his idea was
carricd over into the prasent situatione Had Kilian Leen in
cloncy contuct with Synod, the vexing problem would not have
confused hime, lortunately it never got far inu the Cerbin
conpregetions. However, Duchschacher was not only of the
01d Vorlid, but came from & Reformed background where the
stote and church reletionship was confuseds It ies not
etrange therefore thai he did not share the view of Synod.
Vhy the teacher, who certainly should have known better
ginece he was instructed in o synodical school, did not clear
up the situation, iz hard to say. Perhaps he regarded the
support of the sinse merely as an exbtreme emergency measure,
since the school was too large for him to handle.

There is another angle to the question which was probe
ably the strongest foctor of sll. In Texas the public

school system wasg slow in getting a firm hold on the various

15fRepp, op.cit., July, 1943, p. 54.




communities, and for this resson ministers were frequently
hired to teach in the schools' if these were already partly
supported by a congregation, This additional support was
welcomed by struggling-eongregationa and underpaid ministers.
The acceptance of state funds was common practice for instance
in the Tezxas Synod, In 1870, President Jaeggli of this
Synod urged the ﬁastors to tske advantage of the liberal
school lsws and so relieve their own poverty-stricken cone
ditions. As a result parish schools were started in great
numbers by the Texas Syncd, To the pastor it was a safe-
guerd ageinat want, end for the congregation an assurance
that it would not be expected to dig too deeply into its own
pockets.. Due to this praciice the spirit of responsibility
was elmost crushed, for in some instances congregationa
hired their pastors by contract from year to year without

a regard f£or the Lutheran doctrine of the divinity of the
call. In 1987 this Synod made an attempt to remedy the evil
but the experiment had just about killed the spirit for the

160
parish schools,

With & local condition such as this the confusion in the
minds of the people can well be understood. All around them
Lutheran schools were supported by the atate, The people in
Wardn srgued, "Why should we not also benefit from the school

fund since we pay taxes? ihy should we support two teachers

160ygebroff, ope. cite, Pe 216 L.
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in our community in addition to paying taxes?" It was o
humen way of looking et the situation end the congregation
regarded state aid as thé solution to thelr problem, -Buchs-
chacher felt that there was nothing serious involved, since
he was interested in doing mission work at Corn Hill (Wal-
burg) and he thought he could not afford to spend the time
in the schoolroon.

There were, however, some in the congregation who viewed
the practice of accepting étate aid with alarm. A lip, Tr,
Zoch protested that it was dangerous, Otheras asked what
would be done if someone refused to send his child to the
Second room since 1t was public? In answer to this question
the congregation decided that no one could bé forced to sub=-
mit to the new prnctice.lsl

The congregation applied io the state for.subsidy and
a liiss Knippa was hired to teach in the new room, receiving
part of her salary from the public school funds. 3But this
did not settle the question for it constantly simmered in
private discussiona. District Synod was held in this part
of the state the next year and someone proposed that Schwan,
President of Synod, be asked to give a supplementary essay

on the question of state aid for schools when he delivered

the maln easay at the convention. Whether this request

161lcross Minutes, Nov. 15, 1885,




58

came from dissenters in Warda or whether it was proposed by
the other pastors is not certsin.lsa At any rate, when Synod
wag held at Serbin in 1886 the question was thoroughly alred
to the interest of a great number of the laity. The easay
treated the matter under four headlngs:
"l. lMay a Christian congregation enter into such a
relationship with the state schools that it receives

state school money either Lo support its entire
school or even for a part?"

"2, May a Christian congregetion or a Christian
parish gchonlieacheyr admit that the use of or %the
spiritual application of the divine Viord may be
Tforbidden for the greater part of the school dayt"
"3. Is a christian congregation right when it sacri-
fices 1ts authority to supervise the school for some
temporal advantagaes?"

"4, Can Chriatisns rightly taEq offense at this
uixing of church and statet" 163

Each of these questions was reviewed at length in the
presence not only of the delegates to the District Synod but
also of a large number of the members of Varda, who were given
the permission to speak at any point and as much as they cared.

Vith the matter so thoroughly aired, % was settled for
everyone, ouce and for all, V¥hen Buchachacher msde hls report

to the congregation at the next meeting, he repeated in outline

162The synodieal report states that the questions were set
forth by the two congregatione of Serbin., 'hecther this
i8 to be taken literally or whether it is stated in this
manner in order to leave out the personal element, is, of
course, uncertain. Cpe. Synodical Report, Southern District,

1886,
16311514,
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the chief rensona why atate.aid should not be accepted. He
had alsc been told privately to study the matter until
vacatlion time and make every possible effort to correct the

situation as soon as pusai.bll.a..le'4

The congregation voted

to decline any subsidy for its school at the same time that

1t raised the tultion and asked all communleants to contribute

an addltional £ifty cents per year for the schoul.165 At the

end of the school term in June the congregation severed its

connection from the public school fund of the state,166
Puring this itime &rouble arosce between the teacher and

the congregation over some personal matters, in whieh it

167 Eventually all concerned

seems both partles erred.
acknowledged their mistake but Regener thought it besat to
accept 2 call to the llorthes Holy Cross called Schleier of
Fedor who accented chiefly because of the fear that & public
school would be started in VWarda i1f there was & prolonged
vecancye. oSchleler was installed in November or December of
1836-168

The heavy teaching load which hod causéd the -discussion

" had not been reduced for Schleier was expected to teach with-

out ascistonce. A few yesrs later sn ettempt was made to cut

15*6?933 Minutes, Feb. 21, 188G,
165:114.
1GGCross Minutes, June 27, 1886.

167 bnoss Minutes, Auge 13 and 29, 1886.

- 168( 1764 Oct. 31 and by Jan. 2 he was secretary. linutes

in interval loste.
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down enrollment by requiring beginners to be at lesat eight
years of age.lsg St1l1l nothing was done to get a second
teacher, The question dragged on and whenever it was brought
up in a congregational meeting either nothing was done about
1t or the proposition was voted down, ¥Finslly in the
Hovember 15, 1891 meeting a few ardent supporters of the
school offered to make additionnl contributions 1§ a2n
agsistant teacher was engaged. This proposal was accepted
altheugh there is no record that an assistant had been pro-
cured until August 14, 1892, This was A, Bernstein who
taught for six months at the salary of $ 27,50 per month
plus buard.lvo
Becauwse the congregation refused to aiopt measures
earlier for procurlng a second teacher, a puvlic school was
established across the road from the parish school, This
helped to lighten the pupil load at Illoly Cross, but by no
means aolved‘the situation. DBesides Bernstein, a lir, W,
Schubert and a Miss E, Schubert taught at various times
before 1904, Since these assistants were not trained as
teachers, applicentaﬂto the position were examined by the

school board before they were accepted.171

6o
= Cross lMinutes, Aug. 20, 1880.
170

Cross Minutes.

171Uro=s HMinutes, Jﬁly 22, 1894,
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Parents who sent thelr children to the public school
were required to send them to the parochial achool by the age

172 Later

of e¢leven ir" they wanted them to be conf'irmed.
evepyone was required to senad his child to the parish school
ot least three years 1n order %o have them confirmed. Such
parents were requested to pay elght dollars per year tuition
while the others paid only five dollars.175 In this way
many of the children atiended parish school at an earlier
e than they would have ordinarily, yet the danger of a
eecularized education was never overcomeé, OStrangely enocugh,
the congregation which supposedly began because it wanted a
echool of its own and for this reason broke away from St.
Pa:ult's at Serbin was the-first to compromise in the school
gquestion, ilo doubt much of this was due not to the change
of heart of the original members bué because many of the new
fﬁmiliag were not aa intercsted in a parish school fa they
should have beeh.

Though the Southern District had met sevaral timeé in
Texog, Varda had not had the opportunity to éntertain auch
a large gathering. However 1% did have the chance in 1892
when Synod met there February 3 to €. President Schwan was
azain present et the eonvention in his official capacity.

The Hev, lir. We. Keyne of New Orleans delivered the chief

172 rags Minutes, July 22, 18284

173

Cross Minkées, Feb. 20, 18852,

fil
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essay on the "Doctrine of Holy Baptism, and its lleaning and
moortance for the Falth and Life of a christian,” Sone
eighiy-three persong were in sttendance, not counting the
members of local congrcgations.174

The statletica for 1904 show that there were 610
gouls, 305 communicants, and 100 voters, with eighiy=two

childrdn in the school.lvs :

17

29-nadler 1 Report, Southern Distriet, 1092.

1785 tatictleal Yeeprbook, 1504.




APPENDIX A
S1delights on the Parish Schools

‘The schools played an important role in the history
of the Wendish congregations in and around Serbin, Thiﬁ is
natural sinee they were an integpalrpnrt of the congrew :
gationcl life of most of the Lutheran churches of the lisa-
ouri Synod of that period, reflecting the ésmmsn background
of conservative 0l1d World Lutheranism, Vihen a congregation
could not support @ teacher, it was assumed that the paator
would teach the children. In such ensesa, school was usually
conducted only four days out of the week,

“he standards of the Lutheran psrish schools fell shoré
of prcsent dsy standards, but compared with the school
systems of the day they were surprisingly high. The few
public scheools in the heighborhood had difficulty in getiing
competent teachers. Many of them had not even finished High

School, wiile Lutheran teachers had at least a junior

college training and the pastors had completed five years gf
3 / college, although limited chiefly to the study of theology.
" /[ In one respect, however, the¢ parish schools were below the

public schools of their doy, and thai was in the teaching of

M English. In most cases this subject was merely tolerated in

i

the classroom, though the congregation realized that it was

= i

E!' \ their responsibility to teach it. Occasionally when the new .

1
) |

. J ".\. X

[}
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teacher was considered, the knowledge of English was set down
ag a requirements Vhen the comgfegation at Serbin had trouble
with the encroaching public school they stipulated that the
second teacher must be abhle to teach through the medium of
the English language. Ilire He Verner was chosen because he
could mect this requirements Even under such circumstances
English was not streased as one might expecte. This waa quilte
natural considering that German, or perhaps Vendish, was the
only language spoken in the comaunity. The Hev, lir. Hermann
Schmidt, present pastor at Serbin who ettended Ste Paulls as
a child relates that hardly anyone got beyond %he "nipa"
Reader. Lven today the children have a distinctively heavy
accent.

Lfter all the primary concern of the Lutheran congre-
gations wns not to supply a secular traininge. They would not
have gone to the expensc of maintaining their own schools 1if
that had been their chief objective. They ﬁere_interested
first of all in the spiritual training of their youth, and
for this their teachers had received a good educe tlone Ilen
likte¢ Leubner, G. EKilian, iierner, Schleier and the others
were real theologlans and they had the aptitude to instill
a humble, Christian, God-fearing foith into the hearts of
their pupils. This accounta for the doctrinal solidarity
of these churches down to the present generation. On the

other hand, these congregations were also concerned that
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others maintained such schools. In 1895 Buchschacher organe-
ized a congregetion at Greems Creek and an appeal was made
tc Ste Paul?s at Serbin to belp in the erection of a church,
Thie plea was turned down because Greens Creek was satiafied
with a public school and had made no provisions for a achool
of itn ownel'% When this was later changed by organizing a
school, a collection wes raised and given to the new chuirch
at Greens creek.lvs ;

School altendance was frequently: very irregular. As
already noted, there were many interruptions, especlally in
Fedor with its freguent changes in tenéhers. At such times
when the pastor taught, Sessions were often dropped to allow
him to vislt a sick or & dying parishoner at aume.diatant
point. Even where there were regular teachers, a death in
the congregation meant that school had to be dropped, not
only because many of the pupils would be smong the mourners
in the interrelated communities, but because the teacher wvas

required to play the orgen during the funeral service. 4T

nther times a siege of bad weather of the demands on the farm

digrupted any attempt at a regular schedule. Ialaria was

another factor in distnibing the school routine.

174113 nutes of St. Paul’s, Serbin, Jun, 6, 1895,
175miﬁutea of St. Paulls, Serbln, Oct. 27, 1895.
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The achool term dld not begin in the fall asz now, but
immediately af ter Easter. Slhce.confirmatibn and graduation
were aluoat saynonymous, children began school Immediately
after Ecster after the confirmation class had graduated.
Inatead of the usual nrifteﬁ examinations at the end of a
term, public oral examinatiion was held the week before Palm
Sundoye. On the day before the examination, cedar boughs aﬁd
evergreens were csllee#ed and hung over the doors and around
the school room to give the event a festive air. Where there
were two rooms, one roou was dismlssed while the other had
its examinaetion. <ond parents and the schoosl board were aure
to be prezent to hear the recitations of the children, During
the years this practice lost its original purpose and became:
a "show=of " day for the teachers and pupils, and so in time
it was dome away withe.

The majority of the teachers were greatly concerned
over the irregular attendance of thelir pupils, especially
Ge Kilian of Serbine It was his practice to jump on his
herze after the school day and visit the home of the
absentees. KXillan was a conscientious teacher in many other
respects toos. lHe spent hours with defleient pupils both
before and after school. The entire lesson in religion had
to be recited to him before school so that he might be
agsured that no one had been overlooked, Kilian may be

characterized as a strict disciplinarian who was master of
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the aituation at all times, energeiic, modest, and tireless
in his duty., le wss hard to become acquainted with, however,
and thus was often misunderstond.176

There were many happy hours in these frontier schools.
Puring the dinner hour the boys frequently wandered off to
hunt and 7fish in the nearby woods and streams, Sitting on
the bonks walting for a "bite", the boys leisurely ate their
lunch which consisted chiefly of a few cucumbers, alhnya a
welcome treat for a Wend youngster. On the way home from
school they enjoyed some of the forbidden pleasures, such
as racing their donkeys, even swimming, and occasionally
visiting the neighbor's sugar cane or watermelon patch.

These people loved their children and did everything

within their limlted meeans to give them the best educatione®’ !

Had they depended upon the state for this, they would have .
been without schools for many years. fT/hen the public
schools tried to enter into these communitles, the

members were forbidden to send their children because

the schools were considered "godless™ not providing for the
gpiritual life of their children. Ve can well sympathize
with these hardy people and the results of their efforts to

17631!'1(“!9““, GeDeVay Febe 2. 1935«

177 0ne man, sccording to Dr. Eirkmann, had 18 children in
two marrisges. He paid achool tuitlion over a period of

foriy yearsa.

|
—
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obtain a religious treining were quite apparent. Though not
& perfect community, they represented a people wherz crime
and iumorality was nsver o serious problem snd the mia-
demeanors and occasional strayings were carefullf dealt with
by the congregation.

Though eéngrosaed in thelr congregational dffalrs,fthere
are frequent references in the minutes how they answered the
enll of some needy member whose barn or house had burned
dmén, or of some poor widow who needed support. Likewise
when one of their members had a son to prepare for the
Ohuirrch, thec ‘congregation took up a free-will sffering to
agelet the parents. Even outside of the immediate parish,
ealls for help were answered for s church that had burned
down or for some strugpling congregation that needed help
o build a house of worship or to support 1ts pastor, These
Irelatively poor congregatlons were ready to share their

bread with the ncedye.
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APPENDIX B

Statistices of Trinity Lutheran Church

Fedor, 'Texas

Year Souls Cormunicants MZ;&::E Pupils
1873 149 : 27 26
1374 26 15 (21)%
1875 25
1877 193 32 25
1879 235 34 35
1831 554 45 70 2
188g : 53 50
1890 450 250 67 77
1898 460 276 70 G5
1200 375 226 60 62
1202 440 250 70 67
1903 440 240 70 65
1904 440 240 } 70 67

lﬁhe number 15 is bosed on report on congregational minutes,
but the figure 21 is the officlal number released to distriet.
Very likely the discrepancy 1s due to the fact that they
cover different time perlods.

2Rev. Maisch'!s report is for iweo schools, very likely at one
of hla preaching stationa and at home in Fedor.

’j'l HAE-'_‘.A 1re




Statistiocs for Holy Cross Lutheran Church

Year Souls
1874

1875

1877

1879

1881 320
1883 485
1890 5920
1898 610
1900 610
1902 610
1803 €20
1904 ¢10

Warda, Texas

Communlcants

60

5056
315
515
318
310
305

Voting
Members

54

76

103
110
107
106
105
100

68

Pupils

s 8 & 3

63
az
a7
75
80
886
85
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